2 miles

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA STATE OF FLORIDA



JUN 16 1986

BONITO BOATS, INC.,

Defendants/Appellant,

vs.

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 68,829

THUNDER CRAFT BOATS, INC.,
Plaintiff/Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John S. Schoene, Esq. BAKER & HOSTETLER 1300 Barnett Plaza Post Office Box 112 Orlando, Florida 32802 (305) 841-1111

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Whether Section 559.94, Florida Statutes, falls within the State of Florida's general power and authority to regulate in the area of unfair competition and predatory trade practices.
- II. Whether Section 559.94, <u>Florida Statutes</u>, conflicts with the full purposes, policies and objectives of the patent laws.
- III. Whether predatory trade practices similar to those proscribed by Section 559.94, <u>Florida Statutes</u>, may be regulated by the states notwithstanding Sears/Compco.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

after July 1, 1983, Defendant-Appellee, On or Thundercraft Boats, Inc. (hereinafter "Appellee"), began unlawfully misappropriating the property of Plaintiff-Appellant, Bonito Boats, Inc. (hereinafter "Appellant"), by duplicating Appellant's original boat design by use of the direct molding process in direct violation of Section 559.94, Florida Statutes (hereinafter "Section 559.94"). Despite demand by Appellant that Appellee cease this unfair and predatory trade practice, Appellee continued its offending conduct. On December 21, 1984, Appellant filed a Complaint against Appellee alleging that Appellee had unlawfully duplicated its Bonito Boat Model 5VBR in violation of Section 559.94 and Section 812.014, Florida Statutes.

Appellee filed a Motion to Dismiss the Complaint on the grounds that Section 559.94, Florida Statutes, and Section 812.014, Florida Statutes, are unconstitutional due to preemption by the federal patent laws, citing as authority Sears, Roebuck & Co. v. Stiffel Co., 376 U.S. 225 (1964), and Compco Corp. v. Day-Brite Lighting, Inc., 376 U.S. 234 (1964) (hereinafter referred to collectively as "Sears/Compco"). In an Order dated March 1, 1985, the trial court granted Appellee's Motion to

JSS2 -1-

Copies of the statutes are attached hereto as Appellant's Exhibits "1" and "2."

Dismiss on the ground that Section 559.94 was unconstitutional, citing both the above cases, and dismissed Appellant's entire Complaint with prejudice.²

Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal to the Fifth District Court of Appeal on March 19, 1985. After oral argument on February 12, 1986, the Fifth District, in an opinion filed April 24, 1986, affirmed the trial court's finding that §559.94, Fla. Stat., is unconstitutional. A dissenting opinion was filed by Judge Orfinger. See Bonito Boats, Inc. v. Thundercraft Boats, Inc., 11 F.L.W. 971 (Fla. 5th D.C.A. April 24, 1986). This appeal has followed pursuant to the court's jurisdiction under Fla. R. App. P. 9.3030(a)(1)(A)(ii).

JSS2 -2-

Neither of the courts below reached the issue of the constitutionality of Section 812.014, however, it appears that Appellee's grounds for attacking the constitutionality of Section 812.014 involves the "application" of the statute to the specific facts alleged in the Complaint rather than "facial" constitutional challenge, as in the case of Section 559.94. Both grounds give rise to the same preemption issues and both are equally without merit.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In 1976, Plaintiff-Appellant Bonito Boats, Inc. developed an original hull design for a fiberglass recreational boat and began marketing and manufacturing the boat under the trade name Bonito Boat Model 5VBR. Appellant spent a substantial amount of time and money in the research, engineering and design of Model 5VBR. Initially, it prepared a master set of engineering drawings from which a hardwood hull mold was prepared. Once this hardwood hull mold was perfected and fully completed, Appellant made a fiberglass mold from which the actual hulls for the boats were made. This is a very costly and time consuming process.

Beginning in or after, July, 1983, Defendant-Appellee, Thundercraft Boats, Inc., unlawfully duplicated Bonito Boat Model 5VBR. Appellee did not copy one of Appellant's hulls by taking the appropriate measurements from one of Appellant's boats, creating and perfecting its own master hardwood mold and then making a master fiberglass mold for the actual production of the hulls. This would be lawful, and Appellant would not object.

Rather, Appellee took a short cut and unlawfully duplicated the hull design through a "direct molding process." This is a process whereby one of Appellant's Model 5VBR was used by Appellee to make a fiberglass mold from which an exact copy of the hull could be manufactured by Appellee. The effect of Appellee's creating its hull mold in this fashion is that

JSS2 -3-

Appellee was spared the expense and time of designing, perfecting and creating the original master hull mold by its "appropriating" that which had been perfected and created by Appellant.

The statute which prohibits this practice, and which was challenged by Appellee and held unconstitutional by the trial court, was enacted by the Florida legislature in 1983 as a very narrow, limited prohibition of one process by which a boat manufacturer may copy the hull design of another manufacturer. Specifically, the statute only prohibits the use of the "direct molding process," a process whereby an "original manufactured vessel hull or component part of a vessel" is used as a "plug" to create a master mold, which is then used to manufacture an exact duplicate of the original hull or component part. Significantly, as is discussed below, the statute does not proscribe any other method of copying another's hull design.

The statute is commonly called an "anti-splash" statute, since the duplicate mold is made by "splashing" the outer surface of the original manufactured vessel hull with a fiber-glass material, thus creating a shell, which is then used as a mold for building a duplicate final product. When the original manufactured vessel hull is removed after splashing, an exact copy of the original master mold used in manufacturing the boat hull is created, and the duplicator is spared the time and expense of designing and creating the original master mold from scratch.

JSS2 -4-

The import of this practice is better understood if one examines the customary method of producing recreational boats. Most recreational boats are now made from fiberglass and resins in a molding process. The process begins with research and engineering drawings which lead to the development of a full scale hardwood male mold of the boat hull configuration, referred to as a "plug." The plug is carefully hand-built and finished. A fiberglass and resin skin is then fabricated over the plug and, when hardened in a curing process, the plug is removed. The inside of the fiberglass wrap-around, now a rigid mold itself, forms the master female mold for building the actual vessel hull.

In the actual mass-manufacturing process the female mold receives a spray coat of "gel" which becomes the outer skin of the finished product. Next, layers of fiberglass and resin are applied over the gel coat and chemically bonded together. Interior bracing, flooring, etc. are added. A deck mold, also fiberglass and produced in the same manner from a plug, is used to make the top half of the boat, which is then fastened to the hull to complete the process. The development and design costs associated with this process are substantial and must be recouped from long term sales of the product.

Section 559.94 does not prohibit the copying of the original manufactured hull as such and the creating of one's own master mold as discussed above. It only prohibits the copying of the original manufactured hull by use of the direct molding process. Thus, the statute does not prevent Appellant or any

JSS2 -5-

other manufacturer from using a "reverse engineering" process to obtain an exact copy of the hull, i.e. beginning with the original hull, through taking measurements, photographs, etc., and working backward in an effort to re-create the result obtained by the original designers. Such a reverse engineering process may be more costly, but it is considered to be a fair allowance, since the original manufacturer expends a great deal of time, labor, and money in order to create the original boat product.

Appellant does not claim any patent rights in its hull or object to Appellee's "fairly" copying its hull design and manufacturing and selling an identical boat. Appellant is not attempting to restrict competition or assert "patent-type rights." Rather Appellant simply is objecting to the unfair competition, predatory trade practices and misappropriation of its property rights by Appellee's use of the direct molding process outlawed by Section 559.94.

JSS2 -6-

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I.

lies squarely within the ambit of Section 559.94 regulation of unfair competition, predatory trade practices and misappropriation of property rights. This has traditionally been the general province of the states, except in limited situations where the federal government has sought to preempt the field. The Supreme Court, in its decisions following Sears/Compco, and other courts in interpreting the scope of Sears/Compco, have clarified the very limited scope of federal preemption. now well settled that the only limitation on the states is that in regulating in the area of patents they do not conflict with the operation of the patent laws. Not only does section 559.94 not conflict with the patent laws, it has no effect on them. Rather, it is a part of the broad regulatory authority left to the states to combat a host of improper commercial trade practices in areas such as unfair competition, misappropriation, non-functional product designs with secondary meaning, copyright, trademark, labels, and trade dress.

II.

Section 559.94 is wholly different in application and effect from the law struck down in <u>Sears/Compco</u>. The law at issue in <u>Sears/Compco</u> prohibited all copying of another's product irrespective of the patentability of the product -- it was, in

JSS2 -7-

effect, a state patent law. Section 559.94, on the other hand, permits Appellee to copy Appellant's product in every detail — it only restricts one method of copying, the direct molding process, which the Florida legislature has denominated a predatory trade practice.

Section 559.94 is also clearly constitutional because it does not conflict with the objectives and policies of the patent laws. Like the patent laws, Section 559.94 encourages innovation and invention in the field of fiberglass boat design and promotes the objective of disclosure of information to the public.

III.

The majority opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in this case is in error, as a matter of law. The majority of the appellate panel below, failed to analyze Section 559.94 in light of the relevant Supreme Court decision handed down after to Sears/Compco. Contrary to the decision of the court below, states have full authority to regulate predatory trade practices under the law of unfair competition, including the manner or method in which items are duplicated by competitors.

The essence of Section 559.94 is that in view of the considerable investment required to design and develop an original fiberglass boat, it is an unfair, inequitable and predatory trade practice for an unscrupulous competitor, who has invested

JSS2 -8-

nothing, to appropriate the property of the original manufacturer by using its boat hull as a plug in route to copying the original at a fraction of the cost expended by the originator. In other words, one should not be allowed to reap where it has not sown through resort to misappropriation. This misappropriation doctrine has long been a part of the common law of unfair competition, and more recently has been given statutory form by state legislatures.

JSS2 -9-

ARGUMENT

- I. SECTION 559.94 LIES WITHIN THE STATE'S GENERAL POWER AND AUTHORITY TO REGULATE IN THE AREA OF UNFAIR COMPETITION AND PREDATORY TRADE PRACTICES.
 - A. Section 559.94 Is Presumed Constitutional.

Section 559.94 is one of literally hundreds of statutes enacted by state legislatures around the country to combat various aspects of unfair competition, predatory trade practices and misappropriation of property rights. This is an area which traditionally has been the general province of the states, except in those very few limited situations where the federal government has sought to preempt the field pursuant to the powers of the Supremacy Clause of the Constitution of the United States. Thus, the simple question before this court is whether Section 559.94 falls within that narrow area of substantive rights which the federal government has sought to preempt and is thus unconstitutional. The answer is a clear, resounding NO.

As a threshold matter, any doubts as to the validity of the statute must be resolved in favor of its constitutionality. As stated by the Florida Supreme Court:

This court is committed to the proposition that it has a duty, if reasonably possible and consistent with constitutional rights, to resolve all doubts as to the validity of a statute in favor of its constitutionality and to construe it so as not to conflict with the Constitution.

State v. Gale Distributors, Inc., 349 So.2d 150, 153 (Fla. 1977).

JSS2 -10-

With specific regard to the consideration of whether a state statute violates the Supremacy Clause, the underlying, initial assumption is that Congress did not attempt to displace state law. Maryland v. Louisiana, 451 U.S. 725 (1981). Where preemption is at issue, it is incumbent upon the legislature and the court to determine whether the state law is repugnant to the underlying policy and objectives of the federal regulation and thus whether there is actual conflict between the federal and state regulation. Michigan Canners & Freezers Association, Inc. v. Agricultural Marketing & Bargaining Board, U.S. _____,

104 S. Ct. 2518 (1984). Moreover, the scope of the preemption principles must be limited to the narrowest possible subject matter. Ray v. Atlantic Richfield Co., 435 U.S. 151 (1978).

B. Section 559.94 And Similar State Regulation Are Not Preempted By The Rule of Sears/Compco.

In the area of unfair competition, misappropriation and predatory trade practices, which is the focus of Section 559.94, the issue of preemption by federal copyright laws and the patent laws was addressed by the United States Supreme Court in two 1964 decisions, Sears, Roebuck & Co. v. Stiffel Co., 376 U.S. 225,

JSS2 -11-

232-233 (1964) and Compco Corp. v. Day-Brite Lighting, 376 U.S. 234, 239 (1964) (referred to collectively as Sears/Compco).

The effect of those two decisions, as made clear by subsequent decisions of United States Supreme Court and other courts, was to define a very narrow area of preemption created by the federal patent laws and copyright laws. The states' rights to regulate generally in the area of unfair competition, predatory trade practices and misappropriation were not affected. As one commentator has stated:

Patent and copyright policy do not require that copying be permitted under conditions which amount to unfair competition simply the originator either because failed obtain or was not entitled to federal recog-The Court's concern [in Sears/ Compco] for the superiority of federal law did not compel it to ignore state (and federal) policy against unfair competition. The two concepts are not mutually exclusive. They have coexisted quite harmoniously in the past and can continue to function in tandem in futuro.

Callmann, Unfair Competition, §15.07 at 20.

JSS2 -12-

The power of the State to regulate unfair competition and predatory trade practices arises in both the context of application of the common law and legislative action. As a result, issues of preemption involve the implementation of the common law of unfair competition as in Sears/Compco and the enforcement of regulatory statutes as in Kewanee Oil Co.v. Bicron Corp., 416 U.S. 480 (1974), Goldstein v. State of California, 412 U.S. 546 (1973), Interpart Corporation v. Italia, 777 F.2d 678 (Fed. Cir. 1985), Metro Kane Imports, Ltd. v. Rowoco, Inc., 618 F. Supp. 273 (S.D.N.Y. 1985), and the case at bar.

Efforts by some courts and litigants to read the doctrine of Sears/Compco as preempting all state regulations which touch on the area of patents and copyrights were put to rest by the Supreme Court in two subsequent decisions, Goldstein v. State of California, 412 U.S. 546 (1973) and Kewanee Oil Co.v. Bicron Corp., 416 U.S. 480 (1974).

In <u>Goldstein</u>, the Supreme Court held that the grant of power to Congress under Article I, Section 8, Clause 8 of the Constitution was not exclusive and that, at least in the case of writings, the States were free to regulate trade practices within their borders by the passage of appropriate legislation. The Court specifically upheld a California penal statute imposing criminal sanctions for "record" or "tape piracy," rejecting the argument that the penal statute was preempted under the <u>Sears</u> and <u>Compco</u> cases.

A year later the <u>Kewanee</u> case presented the issue of whether Ohio's trade secret laws were preempted by operation of the federal patent law. In route to deciding that states were free to act in the area of trade secret protection, the Supreme Court stated:

Just as the states may exercise regulatory power over writings so may the states regulate with respect to discoveries. States may hold diverse viewpoints in protecting intellectual property relating to invention in protecting the intellectual property relating to the subject matter of a copyright. The only limitation on the states is that in regulating the area of patents and copyrights they do not conflict

JSS2 -13-

the operation of the laws in this area passed by Congress

Id. at 479. (Emphasis added.) Thus, state laws which touch on the area of patents and copyrights are valid so long as they do not "clash with the objectives of the federal patent laws," id. at 480, citing Sears, supra, 376 U.S. at 231, a determination of which requires an examination of the objectives of both the federal patent law and the relevant state law. In other words, Kewanee made clear that a state may, without violating the dictates of the federal patent law, exercise regulatory power over commercial practices when the objectives of the concurrent state laws run parallel to, or do not impermissibly conflict with, the federal patent policies.

C. Under The Rule Of Kewanee, Section 559.94 Is Clearly Constitutional.

The extensive comparative analysis of the patent laws and Ohio trade secret laws found in Kewanee, supra, 416 U.S. at 480-92, provides the necessary framework for analysis of the issues raised in the case at bar. There the Court found that the primary objective of the constitutional grant of power to Congress "to legislate in the area of intellectual property was to promote 'the Progress of Science and the Useful Arts.'" Id. at 480. Such is accomplished by the patent laws by the offer a complete monopoly for a limited period as an incentive to those who "risk the often enormous costs in terms of time, research and development" in order to formulate a patentable item or idea.

JSS2 -14-

<u>Ibid</u>. Society is the ultimate beneficiary through the introduction of "new products and processes of manufacture" which hopefully lead to "better lives for our citizens." Ibid.

The public's interest in disclosure is also served by the patent laws because they require full disclosure of the nature of the protected invention, and, upon the expiration of the statutory period of 17 years, the knowledge passes into the public domain.

The objectives of trade secret protection, on the other hand, are the "maintenance of standards of commercial ethics and encouragement of invention." <u>Ibid</u>. Even though the subject of a trade secret may not meet the requisite standards which qualify it for patent protection, it does not undermine "'the value of the discovery to the one who makes it, or advantage the competitor who by unfair means . . . obtains the desired knowledge without himself paying the price in labor, money, or machines expended by the discoverer.'" <u>Id</u>. at 482, quoting, <u>A. O. Smith Corp. v. Petroleum Iron Works Co.</u>, 73 F.2d 531, at 539 (6th Cir. 1934).

After comparing the objectives of patent law and state trade secret law, the Kewanee Court considered the interaction of the two systems which protect intellectual property to determine whether trade secret law constituted "'too great an encroachment on the federal patent system to be tolerated.'" <u>Ibid.</u>, quoting <u>Sears</u>, <u>supra</u>, 376 U.S. at 232. The Court concluded that the federal policy of encouraging invention and innovation was not

JSS2 -15-

disturbed by trade secret law, which is just an alternative form of incentive aimed at accomplishing the same goals; that trade secret protection does not infringe upon the public's access to that which is in the public domain because, by definition, a trade secret is not a part of the public domain; and finally, that on balance the public's interest in disclosure would not be undermined by the protection of trade secrets.

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