SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

BONITO BOATS, INC.,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

vs.

4 y 🌲 z

THUNDERCRAFT BOATS, INC.

Defendant/Appellee.

APPEAL		68,829	
9 739	4		
	· . · ·		C
	$p \in \mathbb{N}_{+}^{2}$		
CLEH	к, с.,	as an sta	1
Ву	and a subscription of the	e a desta da e a successi da canada da canada	pl
**************************************	Depu	ity Clerk 2	0

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

1

On Appeal from the Fifth District Court of Appeal, State of Florida

> Hal K. Litchford LITCHFORD & CHRISTOPHER Professional Association One South Orange Avenue Suite 500 Post Office Box 1549 Orlando, Florida 32802 (305) 841-0321

Attorneys for Appellee

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

305 U.S. at 122, 59 S.Ct. at 115, 83 L.Ed. at 80. This overriding concern with free competition is the very heart of the Sears and Compco decisions.

The facts of Sears and Compco are virtually indistinguishable from the instant case and the policies implicated in those cases are the same policies at issue here. Sears and Compco both involved tangible articles or mechanical configurations that could have been patented if they had met the substantive requirements of the federal patent laws. In Sears, the Stiffel Company invented a pole lamp and actually secured a design and mechanical patent on it. Sears copied the lamp in every detail and marketed it even more successfully than Stiffel, to its enormous economic The Sears Court held the patents invalid and then faced loss. the issue of whether Sears' conduct of notoriously copying and marketing the pole lamp constituted unfair competition under Illinois law. The Supreme Court held that since the patents were invalid, copying and marketing the pole lamp could not, as a matter of federal law, constitute unfair competition. In Compco, too, a prior patent on the configuration of a fluorescent light fixture was invalidated. The Supreme Court held that when an

-8-

article in the public domain is unprotected by a patent, free competition must be left unfettered.

к. Ц,

<u>Sears</u> and <u>Compco</u>, then, stand for the simple proposition that the duplication of an unpatented article after it passes into the public domain cannot be prohibited, even under the guise of a State's unfair competition laws. Such articles "may be imitated with impunity," <u>Fisher Stoves, Inc. v. All Nighter</u> <u>Stove Works, Inc.</u>, 626 F.2d 193, 195 (1st Cir. 1980) (citations omitted), or, adopting the Supreme Court's language, "can be copied at will." <u>Compco</u>, 376 U.S. at 238, 84 S.Ct. at 782, 11 L.Ed.2d at 672 (1964). The conceptual basis of these decisions is preemption of state regulation by the federal constitutional and statutory framework governing patents:

Just as a State cannot encroach upon the federal patent laws directly, it cannot, under some other law, such as that forbidding unfair competition, give protection of a kind that clashes with the objectives of the federal patent laws.

Sears, 376 U.S. at 231, 84 S.Ct. at 789, 11 L.Ed.2d at 667.

Florida's effort to restrict the duplication of Appellant's boat hull after it passes into the public domain falls squarely within the <u>Sears/Compco</u> doctrine. The products at issue in <u>Sears</u> and <u>Compco</u>, like BONITO's "5VBR" boat hull, were functional articles or configurations that were not patented, the types of things to which patent laws are intended to apply. As in the case at bar, the articles in <u>Sears</u> and <u>Compco</u> did not constitute writings. The federal copyright laws and policies were not implicated there and are not implicated here. Neither <u>Sears</u> nor Compco involved palming off, mislabeling, confusion as to origin

-9-

product or any other traditional deceptive trade of the These issues similarly are absent from the case at practices. bar. The Florida anti-splash statute thus purports to accomplish the same result as the lower courts in Sears and Compco employed the Illinois state law of unfair competition to achieve. In all three cases, the States prohibited or restricted the right of competitors to duplicate an unpatented article in commerce after passed into the public domain. This regulation it had necessarily clashes with the policy objectives of the federal patent scheme and is therefore unconstitutional under the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution.

B. Sears and Compco are Dispositive Despite Refinements in their Analysis by the only Two Subsequent United States Supreme Court Cases on Point.

Sears and Compco remain the dispositive authority for the Although two later Supreme Court decisions instant appeal. refined the pre-emption analysis, neither Goldstein v. California nor <u>Kewanee Oil Co. v. Bicron Corp.</u> diluted the Sears/Compco doctrine's application to the factual scenario involved in the case at bar. Goldstein is helpful to this appeal primarily in analytical framework. At issue in that case was the its constitutionality of a California statute that imposed criminal penalties for the duplication of recorded musical performances, which was dubbed "piracy." Thus, the federal copyright laws, rather than the patent laws were implicated. The then-existing copyright act did not expressly deal with record piracy. The Supreme Court concluded that Congress' silence freed the states to regulate in the area. The Court accordingly upheld the

-10-

California legislation. In reaching this decision, however, the Court was careful to distinguish "writings" subject to federal copyright laws from "articles" which were still directly governed by the patent laws. Indeed, the Court expressly reaffirmed the holdings of <u>Sears</u> and <u>Compco</u> at the conclusion of its opinion. 412 U.S. at 571, 93 S.Ct. at 2317, 37 L.Ed.2d at 182.

ж., 19.,

It is extremely significant that the Supreme Court's careful distinction in <u>Goldstein</u> between "mechanical configurations" and "writings" was again couched in terms of the patent laws' underlying policy of free competition:

In regard to mechanical configurations, Congress had balanced the need to encourage innovation and originality of invention against the need to insure competiin the sale of identical or substantially tion identical products. The standards established for granting federal patent protection to machines thus indicated not only which articles in this particular category Congress wished to protect, but which configurations it wished to remain free. The application of state law in these cases to prevent the copying of articles which did not meet the requirements for federal protection disturbed the careful balance which Congress had drawn and thereby necessarily gave way under the Supremacy Clause of the Constitution. No comparable conflict between state law and federal law arises in the case of recordings of musical perfor-mances. In regard to this category of "Writings," Congress has drawn no balance; rather, it has left the area unattended, and no reason exists why the State should not be free to act.

412 U.S. at 569-70, 93 S.Ct. at 2316, 37 L.Ed.2d at 181 (footnote omitted; emphasis added). This passage, with its heavy emphasis on the States' constitutional inability to disturb the competitive balance of the federal patent laws, is the recurrent theme in all cases in this area.

Aside from its ringing endorsement of the <u>Sears/Compco</u> doctrine within its proper sphere, Goldstein is of extremely

-11-

limited value in resolving this appeal. By its express terms the case had no effect on the application of the Sears/Compco doctrine to unpatented articles in the public domain. Moreover, the viability of even its limited holding is doubtful. In the wake of Goldstein, Congress enacted the 1976 Copyright Act. The United States Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals, paradoxically construing Florida's tape piracy statute, subsequently held that the 1976 Act overruled Goldstein. Crow v. Wainwright, 720 F.2d 1224 (11th Cir. 1983), cert. denied, U.S. , 105 S.Ct. 89, 83 L.Ed.2d 35 (1984). In reaching its result, the court held that the legislative history of the new copyright act "clearly evidences congress' intent to overrule by statute cases such as Goldstein v. California, 412 U.S. 546, 93 S.Ct. 2303, 37 L.Ed.2d 163 (1973) (holding that the Copyright Act of 1909 preempts only state laws conflicting or interfering with its provisions)." 720 F.2d at 1225. (emphasis in original).

9. Q. (j.)

Thus, <u>Goldstein v. California</u> cannot be cited in support of the proposition that the States may constitutionally outlaw a specific method of duplication of an <u>article</u> in the public domain. Yet this very legal conclusion is necessary to sustain the validity of Florida's anti-splash legislation. The decision merely authorized the States to prohibit the duplication of a "writing," an artistic performance, under existing federal copyright law. Conceptually, however, the decision did not affect the States' absence of power to directly regulate any method of copying an article in the public domain. Indeed, <u>Goldstein</u> could have acknowledged the existence of such power in

-12-

only one way--by upholding a State's prohibition on the copying of the configuration and design of the plastic cassette, the article by which the pirated performance (the "writing") was marketed. Of course, this was not even arguably involved in <u>Goldstein</u>. It is apparent, then, that <u>Goldstein's</u> importance to the resolution of the issues raised in this appeal is its reaffirmation of <u>Sears</u> and <u>Compco</u> and its manifestation of the primary policies implemented by the patent laws -- the encouragement of invention and the utmost freedom of competition in the sale of identical or substantially identical articles in commerce.

The overriding policy of free competition also explains the last Supreme Court case in this area, Kewanee Oil Co. v. Bicron Corp., 416 U.S. 470, 94 S.Ct. 1879, 40 L.Ed.2d 315 (1974). Properly applied, this fundamental policy of the patent laws unconstitutionality of §559.94, demonstrates the Florida Statutes. Again, the subject matter involved in Kewanee was quite different from the type of issue raised in Sears, Compco, and the case at bar. The question before the Court in Kewanee was "whether state trade secret protection is pre-empted by operation of the federal patent laws." The difference between trade secret laws and §559.94, Florida Statutes, is one of kind not of degree. This difference prevents Kewanee's use as precedent for the broad principle that States are permitted limited intrusion into the patent realm.

Trade secret protection can only arise in a private context before an article is placed in the public domain. This protection operates only against that limited number of insiders who

-13-

gained exposure to the secret during private course of dealings with its owner or exploiter. Trade secret laws, however, do not purport to give the owner or exploiter the right to restrain the total universe of competitors from copying the secret once it is placed in the public domain. Kewanee went no further than holding that neither the federal patent laws nor their underlying policies mandate that the holder of a trade secret must be subjected to the risk of diversion by insiders with whom he deals. Section 559.94, Florida Statutes, in contrast, operates to impede the right of all competitors to duplicate an unpatented article in the public domain. Pursuant to the Sears/Compco doctrine, the patent laws place the risk of copying or duplicating an unpatented article on the person who markets it after the product is introduced into the public domain. Under the federal statutory scheme, only a patent can eliminate this inherent risk of competition, and then but for a limited time.

'∙. Sìr

When viewed in this pragmatic light, <u>Kewanee</u> obviously cannot be read as permitting the States to enact legislation that prohibits <u>all</u> competitors from using one (or presumably more) methods of copying unpatented articles in the public domain. Trade secret regulation simply stands on a different footing than State regulation of the copying of such articles imposed against the world. "No Supreme Court case . . . limits the effect of the <u>Sears-Compco</u> doctrine with respect to factual situations similar to those at issue in the Sears and Compco cases." Litton

-14-

Systems, Inc. v. Whirlpool Corp., 728 F.2d 1423, 1448 (Fed. Cir. 1984)

tan ting

Thus, at the outset, the Kewanee analysis on which Appellant relies is inapposite to the attempted validation of Florida's into the area qoverned by federal patent law. intrusion Nevertheless, the full consideration of all elements of the Kewanee analysis still results in the conclusion that §559.94, Florida Statutes, is unconstitutional. In refining the opinions in Sears and Compco, the Kewanee Court formulated and applied a two-step analysis to determine whether the federal patent laws pre-empt related State regulation under the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution. The first step of the analysis adopted by the Court was the threshold inquiry whether the patent laws expressly deal with the potentially inconsistent state regulation. 416 U.S. at 480, 94 S.Ct. at 1885, 40 L.Ed.2d at 325. If not, the Supreme Court defined the next step as a determination whether the questioned state regulation "stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress." 416 U.S. at 479, 94 S.Ct. at 1885, 40 L.Ed.2d at 324, citing, Hines v. Davidowitz, 312 U.S. 52, 67, 61 S.Ct. 399, 404, 85 L.Ed. 581 (1941). The Supreme Court then proceeded to delineate three underlying policies of the federal patent laws that had to be analyzed in order to determine whether the state protection is "of a kind that clashes with the objectives of the federal patent laws." See Sears, 376 U.S. at 231, 84 S.Ct. at 789, 11 L.Ed.2d at 666. These policies were: 1) free competition; 2) promotion of invention; and

-15-

3) ultimate full disclosure of the details of the novel article. Following an extensive analysis, the Court found no conflict between any of the underlying policies of the patent laws and Ohio's trade secret laws. Thus, the state regulation was not pre-empted.

Because of the nature of trade secrets, the Supreme Court's extensive comparative analysis in Kewanee concentrated on only one of the three policy considerations of the patent laws. The Court fully discussed only the patent laws' objective of full disclosure, the quid pro quo for the right to exclude. The relatively lengthy consideration of this policy is potentially misleading; it can obscure the importance of the threshold question and the policy of free competition that is so central to the patent laws as elements of the analysis promulgated by A cursory or superficial examination of Kewanee would Kewanee. seem to indicate that the policies of encouragement of invention and ultimate full disclosure to the public are the exclusive or important objectives of the patent laws. BONITO has most apparently fallen into this trap, as its analysis of §559.94, Florida Statutes, omits the threshold issue. More significant, BONITO does not attempt the impossible task of reconciling the anti-splash statute with the fundamental patent objective of preserving free competition. $\frac{1}{2}$ If either omission is factored in

-16-

 $[\]frac{1}{}$ BONITO is not alone in misperceiving the interplay of all three policies as well as the threshold question in <u>Kewanee</u>. The United States Federal Circuit Court of Appeals adopted the very same incomplete analysis in <u>Interpart Corp. v. Italia</u>, 777 F.2d 678, 684-85 (Fed. Cir. 1985). See infra at pp. 20-22.

the <u>Kewanee</u> analysis, however, the pre-emption of Florida's anti-splash statute becomes clear.

the star

The Court in Kewanee had little trouble disposing of the threshold question. It observed merely that the patent laws do not "explicitly endorse or forbid the operation of trade secret law." 416 U.S. at 480, 94 S.Ct. at 1885, 40 L.Ed.2d at 324. In the case at bar, in contrast, the very essence of the patent laws is regulation of copying of articles in the public domain. It is only when federal law is silent on a subject that it becomes necessary to analyze whether state laws stands as an obstacle to the objectives of the federal law. See Michigan Canners & Freezers Ass'n, Inc, v. Agricultural Mkt. & Barg. Bd., 467 U.S. 461, 104 S.Ct. 2518, 81 L.Ed.2d 399 (1984). Thus, in the instant case, there is no need even to embark on the extensive policy analysis, which constitutes the second step of the analytical process adopted in Kewanee. Since the federal patent laws expressly regulate the copying of articles in the public domain, which is the identical subject matter of §559.94, Florida Statutes, the inquiry ends at the threshold with a finding of pre-emption.

Proceeding with <u>Kewanee's</u> comparative analysis of policies yields the same result. The policy of preserving free competition once again is determinative. In <u>Kewanee</u> the Supreme Court's treatment of this policy objective of the patent laws was short to the point of simplicity. In two sentences, the Court found no conflict with this policy goal:

-17-

[T]he policy that matter once in the pulic domain must remain in the public domain is not incompatible with the existence of trade secret protection. By definition, a trade secret has not been placed in the public domain.

is, in

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